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1.

‘Name

Manayunk Main Street Histeric District

and/or common

MAIN STREET - MANAYUNK HISTORIC DISTRICT

2-

Locatlon

street&number Readlng Rallroad—East Flat Rock Dam-North,

FA not for publication

T Lots B02Y,5026-50uth, Schuylkill River-West

N/A
code 101

city,.town PHILADELPHIA R/A vicinity of congressional district
state PENNSYLVANIA code 42 county  PHILADELPHIA
3...Classification
. Category Ownership Status Present Use , '
- X district = ___ public —X_ occupied — agriculture — museum
— Yullding(s) - >-_ private ~—X_ unoccupied - X commercial —X_ park
—— structure X__ both ——_work in progress —— educational _X private residence 3
L felte’ Fz:iT _Pahhc ‘Acquisition Accessible —__ entertainment — religious
.__.adment:,. i B ‘j* A in process _X_yes: restricted —— government —— scientific ]
e milmcser r_ué bemgconsndered —X_ yes: unrestricted —X_ industrial X _transportation e e
o T metal harooro—s X no " military — other: o
Owner of Property | |
\
the Troo - |
name- - - MULTIPLE - SEE ATTACHED SHEET |
CoCrnl o8 w . . . ;
_ street & number - |
clty, town "4 vicinity of state
L. Sia - - -
5. Location of Legai Description
courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. PHILADELPHIA DEPARTMENT OF RECORDS
street & number ROOM 153, CITY HALL 5
city, town PHILADELPHIA state  PENNSYLVANIA '
: 6. Representation in Exlstmg Surveys
4 T
Canal
mle MANAYUNK CANAL - LOCAL CERTIFICATION has this property been determined elegible? X yes ___no
date. Not Available o —federal ____state ___ county X iocal

depository for survey records PHILADELPHIA HISTORICAL COMMISSION -

- ¢ity,town Philadelphia i state Pennsylvania |

. Y




7. 'Descrip@n | '

Condition Check one Check one

— excellent X _ deteriorated %X _ unaltered __X original site .
_X good —__ruins X__ altered —__moved date R/A
_X ftair —__ unexposed :

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The Main Street Manayunk National Historic District is located on the north bank of
the Schuylkill River, approximately 5 miles northwest from the center of Philadelphia.
The community of Manayunk has retained a strong individual physical identity. Geogra-
phically, Manayunk and the adjacent communities of Roxborough and Wissahickon are
separated from other sections of Philadelphia to the east, by the steep ravine of the
Wissahickon Valley. Main Street is located within the narrow flood plain of the
. Schuylkill. Noxth of Main Street, .the topography rises steeply to Ridge Avenue on the
crest between the Schuylkill and Wissahickon. Because of the geographical and cultural
isolation of Manayunk, the physical appearance of the townscape and individual buildings
differs markedly from those of similar eras built in other sections of the City. While
Philadelphia residential and commercial buildings are typically red brick, those of
Manayunk are commonly constructed of random coursed stone, Wissahickon Schist, either
exposed or faced with stucco. It is the combination of steep topography, and white
painted, pitched roof, stucco row houses which epitomizes the physical character of
Manayunk. L

The clear hierachy of land use developed in Manayunk followed construction of the
canal. The principal mill buildings were located on Venice Island between the ,
Schyulkill River and Canal, though many of the major mills had operations on both sides
of the canal, linked by bridges; often mill offices were located on the south side of
Main Street. In contrast, commercial uses—-such as offices, hotels and banks, and mixed
residential/commercial buildings tended to concentrate on the north side of Main Street.
Residential construction, typicallyin the form of attached 2 or 3 story row houses occurred
on the side streets off the north side of Main Street. While the earliest development
consisted of mill buildings and workerhousing, later 19th century development included
a broader range of commercial uses, including banks, warehouses, and retail steres,
particularly at the west end of Main Street, corresponding to Main Street's developing
role as a full retail and business center. Little development or redevelopment occured
in Manayunk after the turn of the century, and the overall physical appearance of the
Main Street historic district has changed little since this time, although many retail
and business uses have been replaced with lower grade warehouses, and storage uses. '

The earliest buildings remaining in Manayunk are mills of the 1840's and 50's, and
worker housing of the same era. Several of these mills remain on the Main Street side
of the canal, at the east end of Main Street. The finest remaining mill building within
the historic district is that located at 4268-72 Main Street, originally known as the
Blantyre mill. The two, three-story pitched roof buildings, set at right angles to Main
Street were constructed in 1847, of random stone rubble, with cut stone quoins, and brick
arches over the window openings. An unusual feature are the fanlights in the gable ends
facing Main Street. Other important early mills include a two-story building at 4050
Main Street, constructed about 1850 , (originally the Roxborough Mills), a four-story
building at 4100 Main Street (formerly the Dexter Mills - dyeworks) and the rear building
facing the canal at 4208 Main Street (formerly Economy Mills). These buildings are
typically long, narrow span structures of random stone rubble, often with a later stucgo
facing, and shallow pitch roofs. Window openings commonly have brick arch lintels, while
windows are typically wood, arched head double hung with 4/4 or 12/12 lights. Another
noteworthy loft building, located on the north .side of Main Street at 4313 in a three-
story six bay structure built in 1859 of Wissahickon Schist. The building has seg-
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mentally arched brick labels over each window, and wood double hung windows.

Examples of housing of this era remain, both on Main Street, and on the narrow side
streets. The housing is utilitarian, working class attached housing,Vernacular in style,
.. although exhibiting distinct characteristics of formal design styles. The earliest

housing is typically constructed in a Vernacular Federal style, while later housing is
of a Vernacular Italianate style. The earliest remaining residential buildings are
located at 104-106 Levering Street, constructed about 1840. These are three-story, two
bay, Federal style, stucco over stone rubble, pitched roof structures. The second floor
windows are double hung wood with plank frame, and the third floor windows are casements.
103-105 Pennsdale Street is a group of small Vernacular style worker houses built circa
1850. These simple buildings are 2% stories,of stone rubble faced with stucco, and
pitched roofs with dormer windows. Noteworthy houses on Main Street include: 4030-32
and 4040-48 Main Street. These are three-story Italianate style, attached residences
constructed circa 1860. Built of stone rubble faced with stucco they have double hung
2/2 arched head windows and decorative wooden cornices.

. In contrast to the early simple random stone and stucco mills,later commercial
buildings are commonly of brick, exhibiting the richer detailing typical of the late
Victorian era, and are similar to such buidings in Philadelphia. Some of these later
buildings were manufacturing facilities, but many reflected the increasing importance
of Main Street as a business and retail center. The finest example of a later indus-
trial building is 4236 Main Street, an elegant .3-story, 3- bay brick loft constructed
about 1890. The first floor storefront incorporates a cornice, and central entrance
flanked by pilasters. Crowning the building is a heavy wood cornice.. 4346 Main Street
is the former Manayunk Trust Company building, a monumentally scaled, single story bank-
ing hall, built in 1890. Constructed of brick, the building has pilasters with decora-
tive capitals and consoles, stone cornices, and monumental scale windows with a stone
surround enhanced with Greek key design. 4360 Main Street is a heavy three story five
bay brick warehouse constructed about 1890. The ‘Romanesque detailing includes paired semi-
circular headed windows on the third floor, Palladian style second floor windows, brick
pilasters and a molded tin cornice. A similar style 2 bay, four story Romanesque style
brick warehouse is located on 108-12 Levering Street. Noteworthy retail buildings include
4356 Main Street, an elegant two story building of 1880, featuring extensive use of glass.
The ground floor consists of large storefront windows and recessed entrance way, with
decorative metal transom panels above. ' The second floor has large fixed sash with transom
lights, metal faced dividing mullions, and molded metal cornice.

Finally, there are some interesting turn of the century commercial buildings. 4437
Main Street, is a handsome single story brick bar built in 1903. The facade incorporates
a decorative ogee arch stepped brick gable parapet, with metal trim. 4323-24 Main Street,
the Nickles Building of similar date,is a two story, 2 bay brick retail store with elegant
curved glass display windows, and a large ornate metal cornice and parapet.
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‘Statement of Significance (in one paragraph) ' : SR o

‘Manayunk played a significant role in the development of Philadelphia as a major indus-
trial and commercial center in the nineteenth century. During this period of industrial
development, manufacturing shifted from small cottage industry to large plants which mass
“produced _goods. Large scale manufacturing depended upon water power to run machinery,
"arid access to water transportation, for raw materials and finished ‘goods. {The Manayunk
Canal, the only intact portion of the Schyulkill Canal System remalnlng, represents an
1mportant period in the development of transportation systems in the United States.
"Manayunk developed in direct response to the transportation and water power opportunities
‘provided by construction of the canal., The physical development of Manayunk paralled
the _growth of other nineteenth century mill towns, particularly Rochdale PA, and Lowell .

y 'with the location of mills adJacent to the water source, and residential and commer—

01a1 development in close proximity. "~ However unlike these communities Manayunk was not

a company owned and operated town, industry was able to diversify more easily in response
‘o0 ‘changing market conditions, and the town continued to grow in the late nineteenth and
“éarly 20th centuries.| As well as the canal and lock structures, many architectyrally
i§ign1flcant buildings remain, representing all phases of Manayunk's development& There
’*agehseveral 3-5 story stone mill buildings dating from the 1850's, together with ‘many

s“6f stucco and stone, S mill wnrker\ "ow Hou:cs of. the same era. The late-nine-.

;“"‘;:%}f“century commercial’ development is exempllfled by several brlck commer01a1 and
f‘haf‘e}fouse bulldlngs. S : e .
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: Appendix

1. THE SCHUYLKILL CANAL

A. Historical Context:

During the mid-19th century the tow path waterway provided an important means for
the transportation of goods and materials in the United States. The Manayunk Canal
formed a segment of the Schuylkill Canal System, constructed to provide a navigable
waterway along the Schuylkill River, linking the Delaware River and the coal regions
above Reading. The Schuylkill Canal System , part of a broader canal system, provided
the.crucial link to the west. The openings of the canal forged a link between the land
located regions of western Pennsylvania, and the port of Philadelphia, creating a tow
path water transportation which enabled the cheap transport of anthracite coal to

markets all along the eastern seaboard. , i

A plan to provide a navigable link between the Susquehanna and Delaware Rivers had
been conceived by William Penn in 1690. However, such a link was not a reality until
1825. In the interim, surveys for a possible canal were completed in the mid-18th ;
century, and isolated improvements made to the river channel. The first serious planning
for a canal began in 1731 when a group of Philadelphia citizens lead by Robert Morris
_organized” the Society 'for Improvements’ of Roads”and-Inland Navigation. As- a result of - -

- “their efforts, the:State of Pennsylvania chartered the first two canal projects in -
. America, the Schuylkill and Susquehanna Navigation Company, and the Delaware and
Schyulkill Navigation Company, forerunner of the Schuylkill Navigation Company. The
State authorized $440,000 for the projects, however, by 1794 only 15 miles of canal
was completed, funds had been exhausted and work stopped on both projects.

i
¢
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The motivating force behind eventual construction of the Schuylkill Canal System was
Joshua White, credited with developing a method for burning hard anthracite to process
jron ore. He understood the potential of the canal to reduce the cost of transporting
anthracite coal from the coal fields above Reading to industries along the Schuylkill 5
in Philadelphia. White petitioned the State for the right to improve the river but !

" his proposal was rejected. In 1815, the State of Pennsylvania chartered the foundation
of the Schuylkill Navigation Company. The Company, established by Philadelphia |
financiers and headed by Cadwallader Evans was granted a charter to construct a canal
from Philadelphia to Port Carbon, just below Pottsville. )

B. The Schuylkill Navigation Company and the‘Schuylkill Canal: i
i
i

The Schuylkill Canal was not a continuous canal, but a series of waterways constructed
to bypass unnavigated sections of the river. The Schuylkill navigation system covered -
a distance of 108 miles; 62 miles by canal and 46 miles by slack water navigation created
by dams in the river. The system included 92 locks to overcome a 9,588 foot difference
in elevation. Locks were typically 75' to 80' long and eight to 17 feet wide. By 1828,
the Schuylkill Canal provided safe passage the length of the River. In the early years
there was no effective competition to the canal and rates were high. As a result of

this monopoly, the State Legislature authorized construction of the Reading Railroad.

i . o .
M ¥
!
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Oon January 13, 1842, the Philadelphia and Reading Railroad was opened to Pottsville in
- direct competition to the canal and by-1844, -it carried more coal than the canal. To
meet the railroad competition, the canal was enlarged, and costs were lowered. Tonnage
~ , increased as a result and the period 1850-1860 marked the Golden Age of the Canal.
During this period, the canal showed the greatest profit and carried the greatest
tonnage, peaking at 1.7 million toms. ‘
‘Rail transportation assumed increasing importance during the Civil War; after the
war railroads continued to grow and canal transportation declined. On June 23, 1870, }
the Reading Railroad signed an agreement to lease the canal and from this time on ;
commercial use of the canal virtually ceased. : . !

c. .The‘Manayunk_SectionAof the Canal:

- . After incorporation, the Navigation Company began construction in both Philadelphia
and Reading. In 1815, construction began on the Flat Rock Dam, designed to convert .
seven -of the most dangerous miles of the Schuylkill into navigable water. The canal '
mas -constructed -through a -low lying -swamp area then known as ''Dead Waters.' The
ﬁqnakitiuoﬁztheapriginalgggngxrugtign‘waﬁ;pqor, utilizing little formal engineering
&ﬁgghniquesfqandﬁmuphﬁofwthg‘wqpkjhadfto be redone. Floods caused extensive damage
sfuring construction :and -the gompany _had .problems attracting working capital. The = .
“Manayunk_section of: thei-canal- was ‘completed-on October 18, 1818, -and opened-for- travel
k82300 Thertoriginal dock systemr consisted-of.a single -chann e -upper lockand -

< - s

o pm o Wi

‘g *the forwmer Manawunk Trast Company Lom T nemmeTTe L ROL - EITToowmoow mas

sing ¥ehe Manayunk -section of -the-.canal, -is -today -a focus for recreational activity. The |
-City, n -the first Step .in realizing this concept, cleaned and dredged the waterway and i
constructed a boardwalk and tow path along the Main Street side of the canal.

2:
-.- - The development of Manayunk as a significant regional and national industrial center
was due to construction of the Manayunk Canal. While Manayunk continued to flourish as
a manufacturing center into the 1930's, it is the 19th century industrial development,
which is of historic significance. Before the canal was opened in 1819, industry
located in Manayunk because of the access to water; pre-canal industries included

grist mills, glass and paper, iron rolling and wood screw production. Industries were
typically small scale, serving a local market. After completion of the canal, Manayunk
quickly expanded as a center of diverse small scale industrial production including
cotton, drugs, oak grinding, and the manufacturing of hat bodies and paper.

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT OF MANAYUNK

ﬁgrxefﬁé,gonstnuction of"the}canalﬂbhqught three potential benefits for industry:

1. The availability of coal for industrial production. 2. The availability of water
power. 3. Transportation of raw materials and finished goods.

Realizing the value of the newly available water power, the Schuyikill Navigation Company
- began marketing this valuable industrial commodity: The first water power was sold to
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Captain John Towers on April 10, 1819, and he proceeded to construct the first mill in
Manayunk, on land formérly part 6f the Levering estate. 1In 1820, Charles Hagner con-
structed the second mill, between Green Lane and Leverington Street, for the prepara-
tiomof ¢il and grinding of drugs, and subsequently other mills were constructed.

During the 1820's, the scale of industrial production magnified, and operations
increasingly focused on cotton textile production. - By 1828, 10 mills were in operation
with 6 -homes under construction. A commentator described Manayunk in 1828 as follows:
M .1 rode over to a new village called Manayunk, lying about 4 miles above me on the
left bank of the Schuylkill, it is flourishing and .increasing in dwelling houses and
mills. I visited the largest cotton factory, belonging to Mr. Boris and Mr. Jerome
Keating. These gentlemen have a four story stone building, two hundred feet long,
containing 4,500 spindles and one hundred and twenty power looms, all worked by about
200 persons.' Many of the area's first factories combined assembly line production
with forms of cottage industry. Because a large portion of Manayunk labor force was
unskilled, there was substantial technological innovation. In.contrast, competing §
textile centers such as Kensington, with it skilled hand weavers, were slow to adopt i
mechanization. Mechanization lead to increased labor organization and some of the i
Afirst unions were organized.in Manayunk. in the 1830's. - The national depression of the §
Jlate 1830!s ended the early diverse phase of industrial growth and reinforced cotton
,a§9ggixgaggpq£g§§ur}ng“a§_theidopiganﬁ.industrxlgf Manayunk. The scale of production

continued to. increase,:many of the first:mill structures.were demolished and redeveloped . = -

“as.larger multi-story, structures. to accommodate new industrial. processes.

Bmerica, Theg Loant SUSGReRanne (LHE&VIIETL

sHE S iHZLE LT T A v - . :
%cﬁggﬁib;thgépommenoemegtmgf,thé Civil War, cotton..from the South became una@%ilablg

r.

§§§u;£;b§iinfﬁhb'pldsihé 6f.maﬁy:millé,. Surviving mill owners switched to wool to |
.supply. the needs of the Union Army. . After the war, wool and wool blend textiles i
continued to be an important aspect of Manayunk industry while cotton industries declined. |
Because .of. competition from mills in the South, industrial specialization prevailed with
factories linking their output to a few steps in the production process, selling their
materials to other factories. By the end of the century, Manayunk factories were
_producing standard cotton and wool fabrics, as well as carpéet yarns, silks, ''shoddy"
blends, hosiery, dress goods, cashmere, jeans, and other articles.  Despite this
diversification, the first generation of mill owners such as Ripka and Schofield, who

. prosperedbefore the Civil War, continued to define the structure of Manayunk industry. :
“Affer the war, the rate of industrial expansion declined and the new mills were generally less
profitable. While textile and textile related production continued. to be important |
through the 1920's, the manufacture of paper, soap, chemicals increased in importance

until the Depression. v y

Today, although no longer a regionally significant location for industrial activity,
Manayunk remains a relatively satisfactory location for existing industries. Factors
pontributing to the area's longevity include easy access to the interstate highway

. .system, a stable community,availability of water, and physical isolation from the
deteriorated sections of the City.
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_3‘~. MANAYUNK SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT

"~ The development of Manayunk as an important industrial center impacted the social
;§eyelopment of the community. The town of Manayunk received its name at the first
+town meeting, May 4, 1824. Originally the area was known as "Flat Rock" because of
a large flat rock formation at the lower side of the Flat Rock Bridge. The name was
changed to Manayunk for the Indian word '"Maniung' meaning ''where we go to drink."

“~ After completion of the canal, the population of Manayunk increased rapidly.

From 1818 to 1822, Manayunk's population grew from 60 to 800. A census taken in April
1827, counted a population of 1,088. By 1840, the population of what is now the 21st
ward (Manayunk, Roxborough & Wissahickon) was 5,797 people, and Manayunk had grown
sufficiently large to incorporate as a separate entity, withdrawing from the township
of Roxborough. In 1854, with a population of over 6,000 people, Manayunk was incor-
porated into the City of Philadelphia. However, it continued to remain a somewhat
Socially isolated area because of its own industrial base, and hilly topography.

- ™3 Most of the early foreign born inhabitants attracted by the employment opportuni-
Fies;, came from the industiral areas of England, Scotland, and Ireland. Irish and
Engtish”immigrants-were succeeded by Germans, Italians and then Poles. The strong
eboromy” resulted in a high degree of social mobility, and many foreign born laborers
%:;hﬁécﬁﬁg,hii17bw@é%s;ﬂvGrbwthﬁiﬁwééélbyméﬁt;genefafEd_a demand for housing, and . -1
“iasignickly ‘Followed by tousing construction on the steep slopes above the Schuylkill.
RRIRRES 2?1 Peridd oF Manayunk's development there was little physical separation
between the working and management classes; geography and topography limited the open
space ‘available for housing, resulting in dense rowhouse development.

4.7 *PHYSICAL DEVELOPMENT OF MANAYUNK

;;m;ihéMIhdusfr&an Venice Island:

- The pattern of physical growth and development in Manayunk during the nineteenth

. century was determined by the location of the Manayunk Canal, as a transportation
route and power source. With the decline of the canal and the increasing importance
of railroad transportation,.the construction of a railroad spur adjacent to the canal
maintained Manayunk as an important industrial location. Industrial development and
redevelopment occurred during the 19th and early 20th centuries in response to changes
in technology and market condition favoring new industries.

After completion of the canal, Venice Island, located between the river channel
and the canal, became the principal location for Manayunk industry. By the 1860's
a substantial number of mill complexes had been developed both on the eastern and
central parts of Venice Island, and the south side of Main Street, near the lower
locks. Principal mill structures at the lower locks included the Roxborough Mills,
and the Littlewood and Lancaster Mill. Cotton mills clustered in an area cast of
Greén Lane Bridge, while west of the Leveitington Street Bridge, a wider variety of
mill industries developed including paper mills (Flat Rock Paper Mill), grist mills

3
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(Mt. Vernon Grist Mill), and Knitting Works (Pennsylvania Knitting Works). Coal was
now the major source of power for the mill complexes with the Philadelphia and Norris-
-town Railroad servicing the coal depots on the south side of Cresson Street.

~ Over the next fifteen years, development contlnued along the eastern and central
parts of Venice Island as far west as Fountain Street. Major mill complexes east of
Green Lane included the Schuylkill Cotton Mill at Rector Street, Hardings Paper Mills
~ sand Ripka Cotton Mills at Carson Street. Typically, each mill had operation on both
. 'sides of the waters, linked by bridges across the canal, with the mill offices located
. on the Main Street side. By 1875, a substantial number of paper and wood pulp mills .
-has been constructed west of the Fountain Street Bridge. Among these mills were the
American Wood Pulp Co., Flat Rock Mills and Philadelphia Pulp Works. Race channels,
cut across Venice Island from the canal to the main channel, supplied water for each
mill. Gas became a new source of energy for Manayunk industries, provided by the
.Manayunk,Gas Works. located on Venice Island, east of the Leverlngton Street Bridge.
In the 1880's, rail transportation became increasingly 1mportant and a second
1allﬁllne.serv1ng Manayunk, the Pennsylvania Schuylkill Valley Railroad, was completed.
Before:the . 1818's FlatRk.Rd.and the canal had provided the only direct means of trans-—
porting: raw materials and finished goods to and from the Island mills. Now, the
-sbransformation of Venice Island industry transportatlon from water to rail transpor-
¢m¢1nnwwa5‘complete with the .construction: of -the Venice Island branch -of the Reading -
Railaroad on. the- tow path right of way, and the elimination -of the 'canal tow path: system. .
At the turn of the century, most of the mills were still in operation, although new :
typés:of‘industry'began developing with the constructlon of the rallroad spur to

WE&QCE;TSlandT"
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_.,Wlth.lncrea51ng competltlon from textlle production in the south, and a reorien-
%atlon of Manayunk industry to pulp, soap, and chemical production, further develop-
ment and redevelopment occurred in the first two decades of the 20th century. Some
major textile mills remained, such as Imperial Woolens and Elton Textiles Mills,
while new industries such as the Zane Soap and Chemical Co., National Waste Co., and
‘the National Milling and Chemical Co. (NAMCO), opened. No significant new industrial
development occurred in Manayunk after the 1920's, heightening the decline in impor-

.tance of Manayunk as an 1ndustr1a1_center.

Today, Venice Island provides both industrial and recreational uses. While the
west end of the Island remains industrial, some of the old abandoned textile mills at
_ the east endhave been cleared for active recreational uses. Although many of the older
‘mills have been demolished, these Venice Island sites may at some future time yield
valuable archaeologlcal 1nformat10n relating to nineteenth century industrial technology.
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B. Main Street Manayunk

Although the industrial areas of Venice Island were substantially developed by the
1870's, Main Street did not reach the peak of its development as a commercial and retail
center until the early 20th century. In the mid-19th century, Main Street served as the
principal land route for the transportation of people and goods in and out of Manayunk.
It .initially developed as a residential street and business center, responding to the
“industrial growth of Venice Island. In 1850, the Girard College and Manayunk horse
drawn street car line operating on Main Street was completed linking Manayunk to the
city via Ridge Avenue. At this time, the south side of Main Street was largely open
to the canal. Bridges at cross streets connected Main Street to Venice Island. The
north side of Main Street was almost fully developed between Pennsdale and Carson
‘with residential development on side streets north of Main Street extended as far up
as»Sllverwood Street.

Through the 1870's, industrial dévelopment on Venice Island continued and the
business center grew as commercial development spread along the south side of Main
Street. between Lock and Grape Streets. Much of this growth came in the form of mill
offlces. Wlth_the increasing importance of Main Street as a business center, hotels
j&&% developed on the north side of Main Street, near the railroad station, and also
) uch as_the Manayunk National Bank at Levering and Main. By 1890, development

"51de ‘of Main Street extended west to the 4300 block of Main Street,

the Mangyunk Trust Co., at 4336 Main Street. By the close of the century-
*'bebome the commerce and 1nst1tut10na1 center for Manayunk o

lbe*u e -
.Maln ‘Street in’ the early 1900's remained a business and commerce center tied to

Venice Island industry rather than a retail shopping district. By the 20's, the south
side .of Main Street was fully developed, breaking any visual link between the commercial
‘distirict—and—the-canal -industrial zone. However, as suburban residential growth occurred
in Roxborough the character of Main Street shifted to retail shopping and entertainment
catering to local trade. The Empress Theater was constructed on the site of the last
remaining hotel on Main Street at number 4439, and department stores such as the

Foster Department Store at number 4268 and Propper Brothers at Levering Street north

of Main.

The Depression years brought the closing of many mills in Manayunk and the decline
of Main Street as a community retail center. New retail activity concentrated first on
the strip shopping district along Ridge Avenue, and then in the freestanding shopping
centers, further west on Ridge Avenue. After a long period of decline evidenced by
many vacant stores, there is renewed interest in the commercial strip, as antique
shops and restaurants, seeking out low.rent locations, have established businesses on
Main_ Street. Recently, one of the larger structures on Main Street has been renovated

an profess1ona1 office use.
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9. Major Blb —:graphical Referem..e!;

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property 112 )
Quadrangle name _Cermantown Quadrangle scale 1
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Verbal boundary description and justification ' e,

SEE CONTINUATION SHEETS
List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state . . N code KA county ' . NA code N/A

state kA code %l county 2K code iy

11. Form Prepared By

name/title ELIZABETH MINTZ, KAY SMITH

organization "K/A date 1982
street & number 301 CHERRY STREET S telephone  (215) 592-0465
city or town PHILADELPHIA state PENNSYLVANIA

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

—_ national —__state _X_local

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 {Public Law 89—
665), | hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Register and certify that it has been evaluated
according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the HeriYagd Conservationeand Récreation Service.

State Historic Preservation Officer sighature

<
titelLarry E.Tise, State Historic Preservation\Officer date \\Zb\%z
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3 For HCRS use only
: | hereby certify that this property is included in the National Reglster

date

- Keeper of the National Register

. Attest: : date
| Chief of Registration '

GPO 938 83%
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BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

_ 'Beginning at a point on the northerly side of Main Street, approximately 370' east
-of Shurs Lane, at the eastern boundary of Littlewoods Dyers & Bleachers (4025 Main Street);
thence extending northwardly approximately 180" aiong said boundary to a point of the
southerly boundary of the Reading Railroad right of way, south of Cresson Street; thence
extending westwardly approximately 1,800 along the southerly boundary of the Reading
Railroad right of way, to the easterly side of Roxborough Avenue; thence continuing
‘westwardly approximately 850' along the southerly side of Cresson Street to the easterly
side of Levering; thence extending north to the northerly side of Cresson Street (60'
wide). Thence extending westwardly approximately 400' to the east side of Carson Street
to include the platforms, waiting room and public facilities building, of the Manayunk
passenger station of the Reading Railroad; thence extending southwardly at right angles
to Cresson Street to the southerly side of Cresson Street; thence extending westwardly
375' along the southerly side of Cresson Street to the westerly side of Green Lane; thence
continuing westwardly along the southern boundary of the Reading Railroad right of way
-150" to a point; thence extending southwardly. crossing the Pennsylvania Railroad right
~of way, following the easterly boundary of the Manayunk substation property, 150' to 2
'~ -a-point on the notherly side of Main Street; thence extending westwardly along the s
-northerly side of Main Street 1,100' to the westerly side of Leverington Avenue; thence ... .:
“continuing westwardly along the southern’ boundary of the Reading Railroad right of way
.. -approximately 5,700' to a point adjacent to Flat Rock Dam; thence extending fouth-
“wardly, crossing the canal channel and continuing along the westerly side of ,the dam
structure to the southern bank of the Schuylkill River; thence returning along the
easterly side of the dam structure to the westerly tip of Venice Island; thence extend-
_ing eastwardly along the southern shore of Venice Island 9,850' to the easterly tip of
Venice Island at the lower lock; thence crossing the lower lock channel and continuing
eastwardly approximately 700' along the north bank of the Schuylkill River to the
easterly property line of 4026 Main Street; thence extending northwardly along said
property line approximately 100' to the southerly side of Main Street; thence crossing
Main Street, 60' wide, to a point on the northerly ‘side of Main Street; at the eastern
boundary of Littlewoods Dyers and Bleachers, the first mentioned point, and place of

beginning.
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BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The theme of the Main Street - Manayunk Historic District relates to nineteenth
century commercial _and industrial development. The boundaries selected for the district
illustrate the significance of Manayunk as an urban mill town. Nineteenth century mill
towns followed a district pattern of development beginning with a water source to pro-
vide power for the mill structures located immediately adjacent to-the waterway, and
the commercial strip and residential area, often mixed together, within walking dis-
tance of the mills. The Main Street - Manayunk Historic District is an excellent,
intact example of this type of development with the focus on the Manayunk Canal.

___The historic district boundary encloses; the whole of the Manayunk Canal, the
reason for the development of Manayunk; Venice Island, where much of Manayunk's early
industrial development _began and the flood plain of the Main Street district, the
center of commerce for Manayunk. -Within the boundaries of the proposed district lies
the~core of -the industrial vilkage_of Manayunk. Although the village eventually :
expanded up into the hills of Manayunk to what is now known as the hilltop community, :
h1storlca11y the earliest settlement relates to the area described as the hlStOPlC

i
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. The western boundary of the district is defined by Flat Rock Dam, and the entrance
dHanrieY o the Manayunk Ciral. “The.eastern boundary is defined by the commercial and.
ndustrxal_development on -Main. Street.attributable to construction:of the canal, and:
.~ the eastern boundary of the Manayunk flood plain. The precise boundary is defined by
.-the eastern property line of Main Muffler Shop at number 4026 Main Street and Little-
wood Dyers and Bleacher at numbers 4025-75. The area immediately east of this boundary
is vacant land on the south side of Main Street and a large modern structure on the ;
north side of Main Street which do not relate to the nineteenth century developmént of
Manayunk. The northern boundary is defined by the Reading Railroad right of way, ‘
located at the northern edge of the Schuylkill flood plain. North of the railroad the
topography rises steeply, and the combination of railroad and topography provides a
strong phychological barrier. The southern boundary of the district is defined by the
southern edge of Venice Island, and the Schuylkill River.
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MAIN STREET - SOUTH SIDE (4000-4100 Blocks)

4026 Main Street, Garage. Main Muffler. C. 1925 1 story brick garagé with large
sliding garage door; office entrance and stepped parapet roof.

4030-32 Main Street. C. 1860; 3 story stucco over rubble Italianate attached resi-
dences; segmentally arched door opening with transoms; segmentally arched doubled
hung 4/4 lights (sash on upper stores of 32 have been enclosed to accommodate con-
ventional sash); boxed wood cornice with decorative modillions; slightly pitched
hipped roofline. Originally part of a larger row, ending with 4040-42 Main Street.

4040-48 Main étreet. C. 1860; 3 story stucco over rubble Italianate attached resi-
dence; segmentally arched door opening with transoms; segmentally arched double hung

" 4/4 lights; marble steps and banding above basement window; molded wood cornices

with decorative modillions; 4042 has been stuccoed and scored with raised pointing
to resemble stone; 4044-46 are slightly smaller in size, although compatible in
detailing.

4050-72 Main Street. Industrial mill structure. Franlin Chemical and Equipment Co.,

© €. 1850. 2 story, 15 bay, rough caste stucco over rubble Italianate structure; seg-

mentally arched window opening with double hung 4/4 lights with segmentally arched
brick lintels; various types of openings in facade including doorways, garage doors,

.and staftways; slightly gabled roofling. Rear of mill structure faces the Schuylkill . =
-River {originally name: _Roxborough.ldills). . - iz 5;,r@:;g?%f;;_“-aiT‘f:g-ﬁ_qgn-;;jfg

4074 Main Street. Commercial structure. R.W.R. Motors Co. 1860; 2 story brick structure .
with rough caste stucco front; garage door opening with wood shingle pent eave;
rectangular double hung windows with non-moveable aluminum covered shutters. (David

Wallace Mill)

4100-4112 Main Street. Industrial mill structure, Acme Wire Machine Co., Co. 1850's
4 story, 9 bay with two story brick addition; rubble construction with smooth stucco
finish, Vernacular style; double hung 12/12 windows; other boarded up; shaftways at
the center of the building; corbelled brick eaves with gabled roofline. (Original

name: Dexter Mills - Dye Works).

4116-42 Main Street. Industrial building, Krooks Woolen Carpet Inc. C. 1920; 1 story
16 bay brick building with factory casement windows; brick band above windows with
plain parapet roof capped with terra cotta tiles. (Has 1822 date stone from original

mill Anne Dawson).

4174 Main Street. Commercial building. C. 1960; 1 story intrusion.

MAIN STREET - NORTH SIDE (4000-Block)

4025-71 Main Street. Industrial mill complex. Littlewood & Co. Dyers & Bleachers Est.
1869; complex of buildings including 2 story, 15 bay rubble structure; segmentally
arched window opening, now blocked in, with segmentally arched brick lintels; corbelled
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MAIN STREET — NORTH SIDE (CON'T)

brick cornice; gable roof; later building 2 story stucco structure with large and
small, double hung windows with louvered shutters; additional industrial buildings
sandwiched in between.

SHURS LANE - NORTH OF MAIN

B. 111-113 Shurs Lane. Industrial building company. Struse & Sons. C. 1875; original
structure 3 story rubble construction with gable roof; structure butts up against
Pennsy Railroad line; 111 is a later addition, a handsome 2 story yellow brick

structure with decorative quoining; segmentally arched window openings with
splayed brick lintels and hipped roof.

B. 106-108 Shurs Lane. Industrial mill building. Something New and Uniform Unlimited
stores. C. 1870's; 2 story brick mill structure; with segmentally arched windows,
upper portions enclosed to ‘accommodate stand size double hung sash; corbelled brick

cornice low pitched roof w1th tlle cap

JAMESTOWN STREET - NORTH OF MAIN = ---- ™=

D. 102-108 Jamestown Street'_Group.of }-story bulldlngs 1nclud1ng stuccoed garage and
e’ brick structure with® iro fé§%1ng o roof’“ﬂCovered rallroad 51d1ng, former coal

= storage facility to-rear

“**"MAIN STREET - NORTH SIDE’“(szrb(_}‘Blockhf

B. 4105-4111 Main Street. Row of residences. C. 1850's; 3 story 2 bay rubble construction
with stucco finish, Vernacular styling; 4105 and 07 have raised pointed detail to '
resemble stone; simple fenestration, double hung windows; varied front doors; first

floor of 05 has been converted to storefront; molded wood cornices, low pltched

gable roof lines.

D. 4113-15 Main Street, factory structure. 1 story, 2 bay brick factory building; rubble
sidewalks; steel industrial windows brick llntels, corbelled brick parapet large metal

chinney stack.

B. 4119-29 Main Street. Row of residences. C. 1860's; 3 story, 2 bay stucco structure,
working class Vernacular; 23 is a aluminum sided; double hung window sash with varia-
tions on first floor and at third floor level which has smaller windows as in the
Italianate style; reveal door frames with single leaf doors and single light transoms;
varying cornice treatment including tin aluminum and boxed wood with modillions.

4131-33 Main Street - Vacant Lot



MBS F&i 10-900-2 . . e, e I i
(781 : e ey o

)
‘United States Department of the interior
-Natienal Park Service
fNational Register of Historic Places

inventory—Nomination Form
MAIN STREET - MANAYUNK
7-%tfﬁuaticn sheet  HISTORIC DISTRICT item number 7

MAIN STREET - NORTH SIDE (CONT'D)

B. §;§Si4l Main Street. Row of residences & bar. C. 1850's; 2 story, 2 bay rubble con-
strﬁctlon working class housing; 4135 stuccoed; 39-41 Perma stoned; double hung
window fenestration; reveal frame doorway, single leaf doors; gable roof, molded
wood cornice 39-41 altered to accommodate bar; gable dormers added to 39; pent

Tave unifies building. 4141 Hentzel's Bar.

E. 1i.-0.- ’ '

C. §}53745 Main Street. Residences. C. 1875; 3 story, stuccoed structures with double
b é:w1ndows single leaf wood doors; molded wood cornices with ornate decorative
? ~kets; 4143 has tile flush storefront. 43-45 built C. 1850

c. . 41a7_s1 Main Street. New Umbria Baptist Church. C. Gothic Revival; perma stone over

tr

-7

Wissahickon Schist; large arched windows first floor; gothic arched double hung
win dows second floor; gabled parapet roofline. 53 vacant lot.

18 v
D. 4359 Maln Street. Retail Store. Clothes & Things. C. 1930; Colonial revival; 1 story s.o.
schlst structure with double hung windows; panel shutters; gable roofline. ‘

A : :
B/C;gié%;ﬁé—Main Street. Row of residences with some first floor storefronts. C. 1870's
p. 146183 3 story stucco structures with segmentally -arched, double hung windows;

ﬂm}gﬁd wood cornice with decorative brackets; 65: later brick infill structure with
) ——w~—f;two %tnry metal bay, finials and large metal cornice; 67-69: stucco structure, 67 T
p01nted to resemble stone; double hung windows; first floor of 67 stuccoed over; o
#PiyMidler's Plumbing/Heating business. 61-63. possibly dating back to 1860's

g. XFENSDALE AVENUE - NORTH OF MAIN

B. ;956115 Pensdale Avenue. Worker housing. 'C. 1850 row of 2% and 3)% story rubble
siructures with stucco covering; 103 pointed to resemble stone, 115 rubble; simple
structures with double windows; plain wood cornices; dormer windows and gable roof
Tines.

L. Lo

_B. lQZ_Pensdale Avenue. Worker building. C. 1850's; 2% story, 2 bay stucco structure,
Vernacular Federal style, double hung 2/2 lights; single leaf modern door; molded
wood cornice with gable roof; basement located below street grade. .

MAIN STREET — SOUTH SIDE (4200 Block)-

A/D 4208-4224 Main Street. Industrial Mill building..''G. Whitfield Richards Co. C. 1870's;
modern two story block structure facing Main Street; original mill structure facing
Schuylklll River/Manayunk Canal. Handsome 5 story, Wissahickon Schist, 22 bay
Sftructure, segmentally arched and square headed window openings have been shortened
or enclosed with glass blocks; elaborate corbelled brick (Schfield) cornice; and
slightly pitched gable roof. Economy Mills.
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MAIN STREET - SOUTH SIDE (CONT'D)

B. 4226-28 Main Street. Mixed use commercial/residential. C. 1850; handsome 3 story
6 bay mosaic stone structure; first floor storefronts with plate glass windows
and large molded wood decorative bracketed cornice; first and second floor has
double hung 4/4 lights; large molded wood bracketed cornice; gabled roof.

C. 4230-34 Main Street. Commercial structures. Howard's Glass Works. C. 1850's;
2 story .stucco structures; garage and storefront.

A. 4236 Main Street. Industrial mill building. Venturi, Rauch & Scott-Brown Architects
and Planners. C. 1880; 3 story, 3 bay brick mill structure; facade of the structure
projects fiving a splayed effect; first floor has storefront with square transom
lights and two double leaf wood and glass entrance ways; second floor windows
double hung 2/2; third floor; segmentally arched double hung 2/2 lights; window
fenestration paired windows flank single windows; very heavy molded wood cornice
with large dentils, cornice line also splays.

B \

D. //;254—56 Main Street. Commercial structure. Jetronlcs Industrles Inc., C. 1920; o

3 'story brick and stucco structure. B

;&3. 4258—64 Main Street. mill structure. Jetronic Industrles, Inc., C, 1850; 3. story
o *rubble mill structure with’ sthco,flnlsh 'segmcn+a113 arched’ brick 1iAtels: most
of ‘the windows have been blockéd in’ or modern aluminum w1ndows inserted (orlglnal

name: Blantyre Mills). : oo - - S

LY
~

D. -4266-70 Main Street. Commercial structure. Jetronics Industries Inc. Modern single
story stucco finish office structure.

A. 4272-4312 Main Street. Mill structure. Jetronic Industries Inc. two handsome C.
1850 three story, 3 bay stone rubble structures with cut stone quoins. Building
set at right angles to Main Street; first floor has unsympathetic alterations
with pent eave and corridor style doorways. Square headed, double hung 12/12 and
8/12 light windows with segmentally arched brick lintels; corbelled brick lintel
set into gable end. Rear of building complex fronts onto Manayunk Canal (original

name: Blantyre Mills).

RECTOR STREET - SOUTH OF MAIN

B.V/S & 4 Rector Street. Industrial mill buildings. Irving L. Labov Heating & Plumbing

2 C. 1880's; handsome 1% story brick structure, stuccoed finish; round arched and
segmentally arched windows with like shape brick lintels; corbelled brick cornice
gable roof; circular window now enclosed; 4 Rector Street has a fanlight window.
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A.

1§7C;§827;47 fiin §tree%ncReslaeB%iéi“éhH"miZéd Gse étrictures: C. 1850's compatible

RECTOR-STREET - SOUTH OF MAIN (CONT'D)

5 Rector or 4120 Main Street. Industrial mill complex. Apex C. 1870; handsome rubble
buildings with stucco finish segmentally arched brick lintels; windows have been
enclosed with glass block; corbel brick cornice with gable roof.

RECTOR STREET - NORTH OF MAIN

100-114. Residential row. C. 1860's; row of two and three story structures with simple
fenestration and detailing; later buildings have more ornate detailing including two

story bay.
MAIN STREET - NORTH SIDE (4200 Block)

4201-05 Main Street. Residential and mixed use structures. Moms Bar. C. 1850; 3 and
4-. story stucco structures, 03 pointed'to resemble stone, 05 has perma-stone first
floor, double hung w1ndows, molded wood cornice and gabled roofline.

4217-25 Main Street. Residential and mixed use structures. Meitner Real Estate. C.
183D‘§,.two and three’ story,_z bay stucco and brick residences; lst floor store-
Tronts which have been reconverted for residential use; all have double hung 1/1
yxnaows, except 18 which is a handsome bulldlng with segmentally arched 2/2 windows

Agpa arched’brlck 11ntelé‘w1th keystones,.large cornlce with heavy wood brackets.

o Tw o~

3

Low.of 3 story, 2 bay brick and stucco structures with square and segmentally arched
%&ﬁ%e%s-—seme—w1th keystones; some wood cornices. 4247 is particularly 81gn1flcant
because it mirros 4226 Main Street on the south side of Main Street. It is a 3 story
“4_bay brick structure with projecting facades; first floor has a wood and glass
storefront; 2nd and 3rd floor have segmentally arched double hung 2/2 lights.
ségmentally arched lintels with keystones and sills with consoles an elaborate moded
wood cornice with large brackets finishes the building.

4249-~59 Main Street. Residential and mixed use structures. C. 1850-1870; two and three
story, brick and stucco structures with various window treatments and flPSt floor

storefronts.

ROXBOROUGH AVENUE — NORTH OF MAIN STREET

103-113 Roxborough Street. Residential row.C. 1850's; three story, 2 bay structure,
stucco finish, Vernacular working class housing, double hung 1/1 lights and single
leaf doors; molded wood bracketed cornice and gabled roofline.

1641114 Roxborough Street, Residential row.C. 1850's; three story, 1 bay, stucco
finish, Vernacular working class housing 2 with Mosaic pointing to resemble stone; double
hung winsows and signel leaf doors; tin cornices and gabled roof.
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MAIN STREET - SOUTH SIDE

A. 4320 Main Street. Mixed use residential/commercial.C. 1870 3 story, 2 bay brick
structure; first floor storefront, large plate window, double leaf wood and glass
doors; cast iron fluted brackets above storefront; double hung window sash with
stone lintels and sills; molded wood cornice with decorative brackets.

C. 4322 Main Street. Mixed use residential/commercial C. 1870; 3 story, 2 bay aluminum
- " siding with storefront, plate glass windows with arched opening molded tin cornice
above storefront; double hung 2/2 lights, aluminum cornice.

C/D 4324-34 Main Street. Commercial and commercial/residential structures. C. 1925; one
_two and three story, brick and stucco structures. 4324 and 4330 are one story
intrusions.

B. 4336 Main Street. Commercial structure. Joyce Maintenance. C. 1890; and elegant
brick structure with large windows decorated with greek key surrounds and large con-
soles; corinthan plasters plank the entranceway, now a garage door; heavy molded cor-
- nice with dentils and dentiled fretwork; segmentally arched dormer windows. Inspite
Gf;ﬁhg,fact it has been turned into a garage, it maintains its original elegance.
Manayunk Trust Company.

=i, 74344 Main Street, Mixed ‘use”residential/commercial.-Barbershop. €. 1884; brick
: ~2?§§ti§p§p,with tile storefront; double hung sash; corbelled brick cornice.

' C/D-2§§%7562M5in Street. Mixed use.commercial/residential structures. C. 1880's; 3 story
3..bay brick structure, 46 is stuccoed, commercial first floor, upper stories, double )
hing windows, ornate cornices 46 is pressed tin, 48 is molded wood with large brackets;
50 is a modern one story intrusion.

C. 4352554 Main Street; 2 story brick with low pitched roof, french doors, double hung
sash. _

B. 4356-58 Main Street. Commercial structure. C. 1860; 2 story glass and stone building
large storefront windows with decorative transom panels; fixed sash upper story with
transom lights; molded tin cornice.

B. 4360-66 Main Street, Commercial warehouse structure. C. 1860; handsome 3 story, 5
bay brick structure; large plate glass storefront; second floor; Palladian style
windows; third floor, paired arched windows with arched lintels with arched lintels
with keystones. Ornate molded metal cornice with modillions and fretted fascia

board.

B. 4370 Main Street. Real estate/law building. Oliver Reality & Co. C. 1890; simple
one story brick building with large plate glass storefronts; parapet roof with metal
finials; ornate press metal portico entryway; decorative fluted columns with
Corinthian columns, and arched openings.



NPS Form 10-900-a ' ’ . ‘ PP

7-81) . 0
United States Department of the Interior -
' National Park Service )
National Register of Historic Places

Ihventory—Nomination Form

i MAIN STREET — MANAYUNK ,
Continuation sheet HISTORIC DISTRICT Item number 7°

MAIN STREET - SOUTH SIDE (CONT'D)

D. 4372-84 Main Street. Commercial structures. C. 1930; one story brick commercial
structures, some with plate glass windows.

C. 4386-90 Main Street. Commercial structures. C. 1900; two story, four bay brick
structure with plate glass storefront; 3 part metal bays and double windows with
‘splayed brick and stone lintels, second floor; molded cornice with arched gable
front decorated with small round windows.

MAIN STREET - NORTH SIDE (4300 Block)

C. 4301-4311 Main Street. Mixed use commercial/residential. C. 1900; row of three
story, two bay brick and stucco, Vernacular style; commercial storefronts-varying

- types including plate glass and glass block; 05-11 have arch motifs on the facade
cornice types include molded aluminum and molded wood with decorative brackets.

A. 4313 Main Street. Mill structure. Parisian Draperies. C. 1850's, elegant three story
= 6=bay“W1ssah1ckon Schist structure; large segmentally arched 6 light storefront
w?hdows, '8/8 double hung, segmentally arched windows, second floor; double hung
4}4—segmenta11y arched lights, third floor; segmentally arched brick labels over e
. #'Fvwindows; New Orleans style ﬁzre escape second floor, aTumlnum ‘cap carn1oe Cooe o TR

M%son1c-Ha11 =

&' 4519'Ma1n ‘Street. Mixed re51dent1a1/commer01al C. 1860 3 story wlssahlckon Schist
structure, metal faced bay and metal cornice; storefront has modern permastone facing.

B. 4323 Main Street. Commercial structure. Westbrook 5 & 10¢ Store. C. 1905; handsome
two story, two bay brick structure. large curved, plate glass windows; double leaf
woed and glass doors with single light transoms inscribed with name of store; heavy
metal cornice with festooned brackets; double windows; double hung 12/1 lights with
splayed stone and brick lintels with keystone; ornate metal cornice with metal,
gable parapet incised with original name "Nickels Building"

B. 4321-4]1 Main Street. Mixed use commercial/residential C. 1870's row of 3 story,
2 bay brick and stucco; Vernacular Italianate structures; various types of nineteenth
century storefronts; upper story fenestration varied including segmentally arched
and square headed, double hung sash with segmentally arcehd and splayed lintels; cor-
nice treatment includes ornate molded tin, molded wood with brackets and aluminum
cap.

C. 4343-4363 Main Street. Mided use commercial/residential. C. 1870-1890; rows of two
and three story brick and stucco structures with commercial first floor spaces; late

Z- nineteenth and twentieth century Vernacular buildings with Italianate and Colonial
revival detailing; upper stories have segmentally arched and square headed double
hung sash, some second story metal bays; 51-53 have ornate segmentally arched dormer
windows with finals, elegant, yet almost out of character for Main Street structure;
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59 is a tow and one half story, gable roof structure with pedimented dormer, Federal
in. style; cornice treatement varies including molded wood with heavy brackets, molded
tin with decorative fascia board, finials and aluminum cap.

C/D 4365-73 Main Street. Mixed use commercial/residential C. 1890's: late 19th and _
20th century Vernacular styling; one, two-and three story mixed use structures; stand-
ard building form with some interesting detailing particularly window and cornice
treatment. 4369 is a one story intrusion.

D. 4375-79 Main Street. Municipal parking lot.

COTTON STREET — NORTH OF MAIN

B. 103 Cotton Street. Residence. C. 1860; 3 story structure with basement. Stone rubble
With stucco facing; 4/4 wood windows. .

c. 109 Cotton Street Re51dence. C 1890; 3 story brick attached residence.

B. l l 213 Cotton Street "Residence. C. 1860; 3 story stone attached row structures;
2 5 w1ndows, 113 has bar at flrst floor level

Tre: * BREL Fn-» S=—rmpe e micz S LEel e R e L S L TL i
‘}QQ Qotton Street. R651dence. C 1560 3 story 3 bay brlck structure w1tn stucco

[R5 i

fa01ng, wood cornice, “arch head 2/2 w1ndows. T ) . 3
S - T E

‘ »
Fe:) » sEm e - -
1 ==

10§ llO Cotton Street Re51dence "C. 1860; attached 3 story 3 bay stuceo faced row
structures, wood cornice. o . . '

C. 112 Cotton Street. .
(Also known as 4318 Cresson Street — See Cresson Street)

GRAPE STREET - NORTH OF MAIN

B. 106-110 Grape Street. Mixed use garage/residential. C. 1830's; two and three story
structures with double hung sash, gable roof lines.

D. 108 Grape Street. One story brick garage with gabled parapet.

B. 105,107, 111 Grape Street. C. 1830; 3 story, 2 bay stucco structure, residential
Vernacular style with Federal characteristics; double hung sash; modern flush doors;
pent eave over first floor, aluminum cornice.
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LEVERING STREET — NORTH OF MAIN

A. 104-106 Levering Street. Residential. C. 1830's; three story, 2 bay stucco structure,
: Vernacular style with Federal characteristics, double hung 6/1 sash with plank frame,
casement window upper sash, reveal frame doors, boxed wood cornice, gable roof.

-B. 108-112 Levering Street. Commercial structure. C. 1880's; 4 story, 1 bay brick structure,
Vernacular style with Romanesque detailing, storefronts (boarded up) with multi-light
transom; wood and glass door fanlight and arched lintels with keystone; bank of casement
windows, second and third floor; pair of arched, double hung window with multi-light
fanlight, arched with lintel with keystone; stone pilasters; heavy metal cornice.

C. 114 Levering Street. Mixes use. C. 1870-1890; three story, three bay brick structures;
. storefront with molded wood cornice; double hung 1/1 sash with splayed lintel; 2
story metal bay with conical roof; metal cornice.

B. 111-115 Levering Street. Commercial/warehouse. C. 1890's; 4 story 3 bay brick structure
, handsomely proportion commercial windows; pilasters with corinthran capitals, ornate
- 'molded terra cotta cornice with- pla1n fa501a board and modllllons N IR

< s.:c. Vel e laeio et - P S -l

MAIN“STREET - SOUTH SIDE (44‘00‘-31091;) S : : )

Co er01a1 :t?” 3 etorj, 5 baJ StuCCO Itallaﬂate

's%yle Structure, segmentally arched window openlng, ‘double hung 1/1 11ghts, plate
glass storefront ornately decorated molded t1n cornice. :

£ i YT el SRIIeRTIG . . B )
440610 Main’ Street C. 19255 2 story brick, commercial/residential structure; 3 metal
bays on the second floor.

C. 4412-16 Main Street. Commercial structure. Wm. H. Reichert & Co. Printers. Co. 1890;
2 story brick structure with segmentally arched window openings with segmentally
arched brick lintels corbelled brick with molded tin cornice.

.D. 4418-22 Main Street. 1 story stucco garage with metal cornices.

C. 4430 Main Street. C. 1900; 2 story garage; rock faced stone with metal lintels; molded
tin cornice with dentils.

D. A4436-42 Main Street. Commercial structures. C. 1890; 2 story stucco structure; perma
stone first floor; bay window; pent eave; double hung sash with louvered shutters.

B. 4444-48 Main Street. Warehouse. C. 1870; handsome 3 story brick warehouse, Italianate
- Vernacular, double hung sash, heavy, molded wood cornice.

E

C. 4450-60 Main Street. Commercial structures. C. 1880; 2 story stucco building storefronts
with large plate glass windows and transo lights; molded tin cornice with brackets above

storefront; complimenting tin cornice ‘at roofline.
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GAY STREET -~ NORTH OF MAIN

B. 104-106 Gay Street. Warehouse structure. C. 1860; 3 story, 7 bay brick structure
segmentally arched brick lintels; double hung 6/6 sash, gable roof; molded wood
cormi.ce.,

B. 105-11. Gay Street. Industrial Building. C. 1890; 4 story brick strucbure with metal
sasha -

C. &lﬁ”Gay Street. Warehouse building. C. 1890; 3 story brick structure with stucco
facing.- .Original windows infilled with block and stucco.

. CARSON STREET - NORTH OF MAIN

PN S :

B. 405=113- Carson Street. Residential row C. 1850; row of 3 story, 2 bay, stucco

' residences, double hung 1/1 sash, originally 6/1 as in 113. Gable roof line;

E. plainlboxed wood cornice, some with aluminum caps; 113 is most intact of all buildings
ABNTOW:: .
amolaed e

B. 115 Carson Street. Manayunk Statlon of Reading Rallroad _C. 1910; brick structure
RASsSeBPRYIT access stairway to platform level.

wirmmereeGREENCLANE - EAST  SIDE~ 'ffvrfxsfzfirz;ji;;;:;:;ﬁ;i;iﬁ;;H}
sTyle siru. ' :
D. éQZSQOQ 6reen Lane; garage modern signle story brick and stucco 1ntru51on°

C. 1166117 Green Lane. Residences. C. 1880; pair of attached 3 story with basement
brick: row houses; arched stone lintels and arch head wood windows; wood cornice.

¢RESSON STREET - SOUTH SIDE

[}
S

D. 4364<Eresson Street. Warehouse. 1968; single story brick and concrete block warehouse
structure.

B. 4318-4338 Cresson Street. Worker residences. C. 1860;.row of 3 story, 2 bay stone
rubble structures, many w1th stucco finish; single Vernacular detailing some have
later storefronts.

&

B. 4340-4354 Cresson Street. Residences. C. 1860; row of 3 story, 2 bay stone rubble
worker houses; many have stucco finish, some have later storefronts; simple
Vernacular detailing. . )

E. 4321-5- A

C. 4856258 .Cresson Street. Apartment house. C. 1920; 2 story brick apartment building.
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4401-13 Main Street. Mixed use commercial/residential. C. 1875; row of three story
brick and stucco structures; varied types of storefronts; double hung window sash;
09-11-13 have dormer windows and elaborate metal cornices; 4401 has handsome segmentally
arched lintels with keystones and ornate wood, bracketed cornice.

4415-19 Main Street. Mixed use commercial/residential. C. 1870; row of 3 story bfick
and stucco structures; first floor storefronts; double hung window sash.

4421-29 Main Street. Mixed use commercial/residential. C. 1870's; row of 2% and 3

_story brick and stucco structures; varied treatment on storefronts, predominately

plate galss with transom lights, 21 & 23 have decorated cornices over the storefronts
and ornate, molded wood cornice with decorative brackets; 23 has segmentally arched
stone lintels; 25-27 are older buildings. C. 1840 with gable roof and dormer although

25 was modernized.

- 4431 Main Street. United States Post Offlce - Manayunk Statlon, 1975; modern brlck

structure with Roman arches. _— - T

4437 Main Street. Commercial structure. 1903 Bar; 1 story brick structure; glass block

“window; glass block frame around flush panel door; egg and dart molding to resemble

pilaster cap; molded tin cornice above flrst floor, ogee arch stepped parapet with
metal bargeboard and finial.

*
~

4439-41 Main Street. Theatre structure. Loring Aluminum Building Products (formerly
the Empire Theatre) C. 1905; one story brick construction with terra cotta block
facade; garage door opening cut into lobby-marquee area; handsome segmentally arched
cornice with dentils supported by paired consoles; gable parapet with flankling sways.
Mueh of the interior remains intact particularly the back stage and balcony areas.

. Site of U.S. Hotel.

4443 Main Street. Commercial C. 1940; one story aluminum clad storefront.

4445 Main Street Firestation. 1927; handsome 2 story brick firestation; 2 compound
arched entranceways with Lion's heads for fire vehicles; round arch window arcade
with double hung 6/1 llghts, corbelled brick cornice; stepped parapet with blind

arch design.

4453 Main Street. State Store. C. 1960; modern one story brick structure.

4457-59 Main Street. Mixed use residential/commercial, Mom's Pizza Inc. C. 1880; 3 story
4 bay structure; Vernacular style Italianate; modernized, brick first floor; heavy

metal cornice; double hung 1/1 segmentally arched windows with segmentally arched stone
lintels; molded wood cornice with decorative brackets.
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CRESSON STREET — SOUTH SIDE (CONT'D)

B. 4366-72 Cresson Street. Warehouse. C. 1880; 3 story brick structure, with decorative
metal spandrel panels and heavy protective metal cornice window openings and storefronts
infilled with concrete block and stucco. :

B. 4404-06 Cresson Street. Residence. C. 1880; 2 story brick building with projecting
metal bay and metal cornice. Boarded up storefront at first floor level.

B. 4438-44 Cresson Street. Residences. C. 1880; row of 3 story, 2 bay brick attached
worker houses. Simple Vernacular detailing.

D. 4446-50 Cresson Street. Warehouse. C. 1920; single story brick warehouse building
with glass storefront. :

CRESSON STREET - NORTH SIDE

B. Cfesson Street at Carson Street. Manayunk Station of Reading Railroad. C. 1810;

N 2 story brick building with stone quoins, plinth and cornice; slate roof, prOJectlng
2. steel.and wood..canapy.. .Faormer wa1t1ng room and passenger fac111t1es. :
,;Jc.o:t:..;-:“ ,,,,,, ces a2 s e o TID o

MAIN STREET (4500 BlOCk)

- ubi‘: 551 Ma1n Street (also kno&ﬁiéé Cfééguﬁéﬁé)cyMéﬁg§unH”éﬁ5—S£5Eioﬁ}C.fTQOS; one
L. sdoryobrieksstructuresrblind-panels-with corbelled detailing, industrial windows;
brlck corbel and dlaperlng detail. :

cC. 4590 Main Street. Commerc1a1 building. Impac Associates.C. 1920; 2 story brick
structure.

LEVERINGTON AVENUE

A. Main & Leverington Avenue. Planning mill. Smauel S. Keely & Sons.C. 1877; 3 story
7 bay, rough caste stucco mill structure with exposed rubble walls facing canal;
segmentally arched 15/16 double hung sash with segmentally arched brick lintels;
double leaf, multi-light shaftway, second and third fioors; main entrance has a
modern door; segmentally arch door surround with simple fluted pilasters; handsome
brick cornice with dentils and dentiled fascia board; although some of the window
openings have been enclosed, the brick lintels were not covered over, retaining the

symmetry of the fenestration.

FOUNTAIN STREET

D. Fountaln Street at Readlng Railroad. Industrial building, main building. C. 1920;
5 story concrete frame structure with industrial sash and brick infill. Other

buildings C. 1950 brick.
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VENICE ISLAND

Yenlce Island, east of Cotton Street. Venice Island playground building. C. 1970;
s;ngle story brick,concrete block, and glass structure. :

Venice Island, west of Cotton Street (rear 4368 Main Street). Industrial building,
Lonnelly Container. Original Building. C. 1840; 2J4 story brick and stone/stucco
structure; corbelled brick gable ends, segmentally arched windows with segmentally

~arched brick lintels. 20th Century steel frame, brick and concrete block additions

to. south and east of original structure, 20th century additions are intrusions.

Venice Island, west of Cotton Street (rear 4434 Main Street). Warehouse Building;

Contractors storage. 1975; single story concrete block structure.

Venice Island, west of Green Lane Bridge. Industrial buildings formerly Mrs. Paul's
#itchens (rear 4572~-94 Main Street). Original building.C. 1880; 2 story brick

. structure with slate gable roof. original building surrounded by 20th century, 1% story
,cement block structures with multi-light fixed sash windows 20th century addltlons

gne intrusions.

Yenice Island, west of Leverington Avenue Bridge. 4601 Flat Rock Road. Manufacturing

_vomplex. NAMICO Soaps Detergents. C. 1840; 4 story brick and stone-with stucco finish’
Yernacular style building, regular fenestration with double hung multi-light sash,

ggple roof, low rise, brick later additions with terra cotta t11e caps

br
.Venlce Island, west of Leverlngton Avenue. 5000 Flat Rock Road. Industrial complex.

Centainer Corporation of America. 20th century 1-3 story structure; 3 story structure
goncrete frame with brick and industrial sash infill.  Other structures brick, stucco

and steel.

MANAYUNK CANAL

Lower Lock; Manayunk Canal at Lock Street single Lock channel with cut stone faced
retaining walls. Lock gates missing.

Cotton Street Bridge; Manayunk Canal at Cotton Street access to Venice Island
Playground and Connelly Container. Grade bridge over culventerd canal.

Bridge at 4434 Main Street; simple span steel bridge, access to contractors storage
structure on Venice Island.

?Ennsylvanig Railroad Bridge; concrete arch span structure crosses Canal and
8chuylkill River.
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Green Lane Bridge; Manayunk Canal at Green Lane; simple span concrete brldge C. 1830;
art deco detailing. Bridge crosses Schuylkill River providing access to West

Manayunk.

Leverington Avenue Bridge; Manayunk Canal at Leverington Axenue; simple span
‘concrete .bridge. C. 1930. Bridge provides access to Flat Rock Road and Venice Island

industries.

Fountain Street Bridge; Manayunk Canal at Fountain Street; steel lattice girder
bridge provides access to Flat Rock Road on Venice Idland and Container Corporation

of America facility.

Site of Lock Keepers House; Manayunk Canal at-Domino Lane. Ruin

Canal water level regulating facility; Manayunk Canal at upper lock; ruin; industrial
building.C. 1880; single store, 5 bay brick structure with gable roof on cut stone
retaining structure. Parts of original machinery remain.

‘retalnlno WdI1S

Flat Rock Dam; Schuylkill River ét upber lock; dam across Schuylkill River.
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